To:  NYS OSPRA Legal & Investigative Unit: Appeal Board

From: MCLAC/LAWNY Attorneys for Appellant

Date:  September 11, 2008

Re:  NY Correction Law Article 23-A and Americans with Disabilities Act

Memorandum of Law

Issue:
Whether the New York State Education Department’s Office of School Personnel Review and Accountability (OSPRA) final determination denying Appellant employment with School District, where he had been previously employed for nearly (20) twenty years, based solely upon his record of convictions for Drinking While Driving violate NY Corr. Law § 752, NY Exec. Law § 296(15), the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), 42 U.S.C.A. §12132, and NY Exec. Law § 296(1)(a)? 

Brief Answer:
Yes, the New York State Education Department’s Office of School Personnel Review and Accountability (hereinafter referred to as the OSPRA) final determination denying Appellant full time employment violates the NY Corr. Law § 752, NY Exec. Law § 296(15), Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), 42 U.S.C.A. §12132, and NY Exec. Law § 296(1)(a). The denial of Appellant’s employment does not fall within any applicable legal exception to the statute because Appellant criminal conviction is not directly related to his employment as “Building and Grounds Services (Custodian, Janitor, Cleaner, Maintenance, Trades, Laborer)” and his employment does not create an unreasonable risk to any individual within his position as a maintenance and grounds keeper nor does pose any risk to any of the school district’s property, as Appellant does not operate vehicles.  Furthermore, OSPRA’s final decision directly violates Appellant’s protections under the ADA and the NY Human Rights Law as person in recovery from alcoholism.

Facts:


In 1974, at age seventeen Appellant voluntarily enlisted in the United State’s Navy where he served this nation until his Honorable Discharge in 1977.  After Appellant’s discharge he became employed with the School District in 1978 as maintenance and grounds keeper and has maintained his employment with the school district, with exception for brief leaves of absence due his struggles with alcoholism, up until 2008.  Altogether appellant has been exemplary employee for the school district for (25) twenty-five years in total.  Appellant’s exemplarily employment record for the school district is demonstrated by the School District welcoming him back as a valued employee after Appellant’s leaves of absence due to his untreated alcoholism and consequential interaction with law enforcement and periods of incarceration.  Appellant’s duties and responsibilities as maintenance and grounds keeper are as follows:  cleans and maintains the interior and exterior of a school, operates equipment such as a floor polisher, performs simple maintenance on furniture and electrical or mechanical equipment.  He collects trash, sweeps dirt, rakes leaves, and shovels snow to keep entrances and walkways clear.  See, Appellant’s Personal Statement and Resume herein attached as Exhibit “A”.  At no time has it been Appellant’s duty or responsibility to operate school district vehicles.  


During 1982 and 1987 Appellant sustained 3 drinking and driving related criminal convictions.  Appellant admits that by his 3rd drinking and driving related conviction he had became aware that he had a problem with drinking.  However, because Appellant believed he could deal with his alcoholism “by himself” this only led to more drinking and driving related convictions and he failed to reach out to any support network or friends and family to help him address his struggle with alcoholism.  Appellant’s criminal convictions are nearly entirely composed of drinking while driving convictions with the exception of misdemeanor assault conviction from over (18) eighteen years ago.  Appellant’s criminal convictions are solely the product of his untreated alcoholism.  In the mid to late 1990’s Appellant’s employer, the School District discovered his battle with alcoholism and the criminal consequences of his disease when he was forced to take leaves of abscesses due to his incarceration in Monroe County Jail.  However, Appellant’s value as a trusted employee was demonstrated by his employer’s willingness to accept him back after completing his sentence as it would again in 2007 upon his release from prison.  In fact, Appellant’s supervisors and colleagues attest in his recommendation letters (herein attached as Exhibit B”) Appellant never came to work under the influence of alcohol and he had never been even accused of the slightest misconduct or negligence.  The record before OSPRA is devoid of any evidence that Appellant’s struggles with alcoholism have ever been a factor in his employment over the course of the past (25) twenty-five years, with the exception of his absences, which is fully within the employer’s prerogative to address.


During his sentence for DWI 3rd Offense from 2005 Appellant used his time wisely and completed a six month Alcohol and Substance Abuse Treatment program as well as a G.E.D. course, V.A. Therapeutic program, and Small Engine Repair training.  See, Records of Appellant’s Programs from Mid-State CF herein attached as Exhibit “C”. During his incarceration Appellant wrote to his Employer, Human Resources Director, to request permission to return to his employment as a custodian upon his release.  Appellant’s Employer accepted Appellant’s request and as his Employer points out in July 1, 2008 letter of support for Appellant “I believe that public policy of New York State encourages the District to employ individuals such as Appellant… I believe Appellant is not a threat to the safety and integrity of our facilities, our staff, or our students”.  See, July 1, 2008 Letter of Support by Appellant’s Employer herein attached as Exhibit “D”.  Upon his release, Appellant entered Booth Haven a men’s shelter for persons reintegrating from incarceration back into their communities, and successfully completed the program.  See, July 21, 2008, Booth Haven Case Manager Letter herein attached as Exhibit “E”.    Upon his completion of the Booth Haven program and acknowledging his past errors in not reaching out to available community networks and resources for person in recovery from past addictions Appellant obtained services through the Department of Veterans Affairs, Rochester Outpatient Clinic.  See, Dept. of V.A., Addiction Therapist Letter dated February 24, 2008 herein attached as Exhibit “F”.  Additionally, Appellant has been and continues to be in full compliance with his parole supervision.  As his parole officer points out, it is the P.O. opinion that maintaining Appellant’s employment has and will benefit his rehabilitation.  See, March 26, 2008 P.O. Letter herein attached as Exhibit “G”.  
Legal Analysis:
Appellant’s criminal convictions for DWI do not fall under any presumptive disqualifications under Part 87 of the Regulations of the Commissioner of Education.  However, provision Part 87.5(iii) clearly articulates the decision must be made “consistent with Article 23-A of the New York State Corrections Law” to avoid a judicial finding of arbitrary and capricious. See generally, N.Y. Correct. Law § 750-55 (McKinney 2008). 
In Bonacorsa v. Van Lindt, the Court articulated the New York State Legislature’s intent behind Article 23-A of the New York Corrections Law:

“Article 23-A of the Correction Law was enacted in 1976 in an attempt to eliminate the effect of bias against ex-offenders which prevented them from obtaining employment. Studies established that the bias against employing or licensing ex-offenders was not only widespread but particularly unfair and counterproductive. Although ex-offenders were urged when released from prison to find employment as a part of their rehabilitation, they had great difficulty in doing so because of their criminal records and this difficulty existed even though there was an absence of any connection between the employment or license and the crime committed, its circumstances or the background of the offender. See, Meltsner, Caplan & Lane, An Act to Promote the Rehabilitation of Criminal Offenders in the State of New York, 24 Syracuse L Rev 885, 905. Failure to find employment not only resulted in personal frustration but also injured society as a whole by contributing to a high rate of recidivism. See, 1976 NY Legis. Ann, at 50. Article 23-A sought to remove this obstacle to employment by imposing an obligation on employers and public agencies to deal equitably with ex-offenders, while also protecting society's interest in assuring performance by reliable and trustworthy persons. Thus, the statute sets out a broad general rule that employers and public agencies cannot deny employment or a license to an applicant solely based on status as an ex-offender.” 71 N.Y.2d 605, 611-12 (N.Y. 1988).

Additionally, section 753 of the New York Corrections Law states that “no application for employment or licensure may be denied based solely on the existence of one or more criminal convictions.”  N.Y. Correct. Law §753 (McKinney 2008). Further, New York State Human Rights Law states that it is “unlawful discrimination for any person, agency, bureau, corporation or association, including the state and any political subdivision to deny employment or licensure by reason of his or her having been convicted of one or more criminal offenses.” N.Y. Exec. Law § 296(15) (McKinney 2008). 
 Article 23-A provides two permissible exceptions to the proscription of denying employment or licensure of persons with criminal convictions. These exceptions are: (1) there is a direct relationship between the criminal offense and the specific license or employment sought; or (2) the license or employment sought involves an unreasonable risk to persons or property. 
A "direct relationship" is found where the "nature of the criminal conduct for which the person was convicted has a direct bearing on the person’s fitness or ability to perform one or more of the duties or responsibilities necessarily related to the license or employment sought.” N.Y. Correct. Law §750(3) (McKinney 2008); Peluso v. Smith, 142 Misc.2d 642, 647-48 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 1989). What specifically constitutes an "unreasonable risk" has not been statutorily defined as such finding is fact specific and dependent upon evaluation of each individual situation and the relationship it has on the license or employment sought. Id.

Whether applying the two stated exceptions to §753 or merely incorporating a conviction as a factor into the applicant’s employment or licensure determination, the employer or licensing agency is obligated to consider the following eight (8) factors listed pursuant to § 753(1). See, §753. 
1. the public policy of this state, as expressed in this act, to encourage the licensure and employment of persons previously convicted of one or more criminal offenses; 
2. the specific duties and responsibilities necessarily related to the license or employment sought; 
3. the bearing, if any, the criminal offense or offenses for which the person was previously convicted will have on his fitness or ability to perform one or more such duties or responsibilities; 
4. the time which has elapsed since the occurrence of the criminal offense or offenses; 
5. the age of the person at the time of occurrence of the criminal offense or offenses; 
6. the seriousness of the offense or offenses; 
7. any information produced by the person, or produced on his behalf, in regard to his rehabilitation and good conduct; and the
8. legitimate interest of the public agency or private employer in protecting property, and the safety and welfare of specific individuals or the general public. 
However, as the decision in Bonacorsa elucidates, the interplay between the two exceptions to §753 and how the eight factors are to be employed in the determination process, are different and somewhat awkward. 71 N.Y.2d at 613.  The Court states: 

…“It is necessary to interpret section 753 differently depending on whether the agency or private employer is seeking to deny the license or employment pursuant to the direct relationship exception (§ 752 [1]) or the unreasonable risk exception (§ 752 [2]). Undoubtedly, when the employer or agency relies on the unreasonable risk exception, the eight factors contained in section 753 (1) should be considered and applied to determine if in fact an unreasonable risk exists. The employer or agency may not assume that the exception applies and then consider the factors to determine whether the employment should be offered or the license should nevertheless be granted. Having considered the eight factors and determined that an unreasonable risk exists, however, the employer or agency need not go further and consider the same factors to determine whether the license or employment opportunity should be granted. Thus, when applied to subdivision (2) of section 752, the phrase "[in] making a determination pursuant to section seven hundred fifty two" means in determining whether the unreasonable risk exception actually applies.” Bonacorsa, 71 N.Y.2d at 613.
Thus, when applying the “unreasonable risk” exception, the employer or agency must first apply the factors to determine whether or not an “unreasonable risk” exists.  In contrast, when applying the “direct relationship” exception, where the definition for “direct relationship” is delineated, the agency or employer would utilize the eight factors in determining whether or not the “direct relationship” is sufficiently attenuated to warrant the denial of the applicant for employment or licensure.  As the court in Bonacorsa states:

... “Section 753 must also be applied to the direct relationship exception because the prefatory language of section 753 (1) and (2), properly construed, specifies that the section shall apply to all parts of section 752. When considering the effect of section 753 on the direct relationship exception, however, a different analysis is required because "direct relationship" is defined by section 750 (3), and because consideration of the factors contained in section 753 (1) does not contribute to determining whether a direct relationship exists. We read the direction of section 753 that it applies "[in] making a determination pursuant to section seven hundred fifty-two" to mean that, notwithstanding the existence of a direct relationship, an agency or private employer must consider the factors contained in section 753, to determine whether employment or a license should, in its discretion, issue.” Id. at 613-14.

Thus, as the Court of Appeals in Bonacorsa articulates, application of Article 23-A requires the employer or agency to consider all (8) eight factors under § 753(1).  In addition, where the applicant has a Certificate of Relief from Disabilities, there exists a rebuttable presumption of rehabilitation despite any determination of a “direct relationship” or “unreasonable risk.” Thus, the burden then shifts to the employer to rebut the finding of rehabilitation by the court, or else the denial will be found an arbitrary and capricious determination.
Finally, an applicant must be provided with sufficient due process to challenge the denial of licensure or employment based solely on the applicant’s criminal history. In Peluso, the Court held that due process requires the agency or employer to specifically set forth the reasons why the employment position is being denied. 142 Misc.2d at 646-48. See also, 1984 N.Y. Op. (Inf.) Att’y Gen. 126 (Where in the 1984 Attorney General Opinion, the Attorney General stated that “Article 23-A of the Correction Law does not require a hearing per se but requires that specific determinations be made pursuant to section 753). 

Legal Application of the Law to the Facts:
A.  No Direct Relationship

Pursuant to Article 23-A, a "direct relationship" exists where the "nature of criminal conduct for which the person was convicted has a direct bearing on his fitness or ability to perform one or more of the duties or responsibilities necessarily related to the license or employment sought". §750(3). In Marra v. White Plains, an ex-offender, with a five year old conviction for Burglary in the third degree, applied for a special residence facility license from  the Department of Building for the City of White Plains and was denied based on a finding that his conviction was directly related to his sought after license. 96 A.D.2d 17, 19 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 1983). On appeal the Supreme Court, reversed the agency’s decision holding that the criminal conviction was in fact not directly related to the licensure sought. Id. 
The Court in Marra held that a direct relationship can be found in situations where the applicant's prior conviction was for an offense related to the industry or occupation at issue. Id. at 22-25. For example, the Court cites the following situations: 1) denial of a liquor license was warranted because the corporate applicant's principal had a prior conviction for fraud in interstate beer sales; and 2) application for a license to operate a truck in garment district denied since one of the corporate applicant's principals had been previously convicted of extortion arising out of a garment truck racketeering operation. Id.

Additionally, the Court held that a direct relationship can be found if the elements inherent in the nature of the criminal offense would have a direct impact on the applicant's ability to perform the duties necessarily related to the license or employment sought. Id. As an example, the Court cites the following situation: Application for employment as a traffic enforcement agent was denied based on applicant’s prior convictions for, intra alia, assault in the second degree, possession of a dangerous weapon, criminal possession of stolen property, and larceny. Id. 

Here, there is no possible direct relationship between Appellant’s several convictions for DWI and his employment as a maintenance and grounds keeper in the School District because the inherent elements of Appellant’s crimes, i.e. drinking and driving, have any impact on his abilities carry out the job duties or responsibilities as grounds keeper and custodian. Furthermore, Appellant’s conduct does not have a direct relationship to the industry or occupation at issue; nor does the nature of criminal conduct have a direct bearing on his fitness or ability to perform one or more of the duties or responsibilities necessarily related to the employment position of maintenance and grounds keeper.  As Appellant’s employer, Human Resources Director and individual best situated to determine stated, “Appellant does not drive a District vehicle and has no driving responsibilities”.  See, July 1, 2008 Employer Letter.
B. No Unreasonable Risk

The Court in Bonacorsa held that in order for an agency or employer to determine that the applicant’s licensure or employment presented an “unreasonable risk to be upheld,” then the agency or employer must apply the eight factors enumerated in § 753. 71 NY2d at 613.  The Court stated: “Undoubtedly, when the employer or agency relies on the unreasonable risk exception, the eight factors contained in section 753 (1) should be considered and applied to determine if in fact an unreasonable risk exists. The employer or agency may not assume that the exception applies and then consider the factors to determine whether the employment should be offered or the license should nevertheless be granted.” Id. 

If the (8) eight factors are applied to the Appellant’s case with the information contained in the record, the proposition that Appellant employment as a maintenance and grounds keeper in the School District presents a “unreasonable risk” must fail for lack of reasonableness.  

As Appellant’s employer points out the first factor of § 753 falls squarely in Appellant’s favor as it states that it is New York State public policy to encourage the licensure of people with convictions.  

While it may be conceded that it appears the second factor, time elapsed since last conviction, may not appear to favor Appellant’s position in that it has been three years since his last conviction, this point is mitigated by the fact that Appellant’s conviction are directly the result of alcoholism.  Thus, Appellant’s criminal convictions are solely the product of a disease from which Appellant is in recovery.  Therefore it is unlikely that this conduct will reoccur.

 The third factor considered is the seriousness of the offense. Again, this factor favors Appellant, as his convictions are for a non-violent drinking and driving crimes. 

 While the fourth factor considered, the age at the time of the offense, appears again not favor Appellant, it is mitigated because these crimes were solely the product of alcoholism from which Appellant is now in recovery.
The fifth factor considered is the bearing, if any the offense the person was convicted of would have on his fitness or ability to perform one or more duties or responsibilities.  Any argument that Appellant’s DWI convictions have a bearing on his abilities or fitness to carry out his duties of cleaning and maintaining the District’s grounds are merely speculative since there is not one iota of evidence that Appellant ever was under the influence of alcohol at his employment with the District in the past (25) twenty-five years.

 The sixth factor considered is similar to the fifth in that the agency must consider the specific duties and responsibilities related to the licensure sought.  Here, again, the responsibilities for the position set out above have only the most attenuated relationship to Appellant’s DWI convictions since he does not operate a vehicle nor is there any evidence that Appellant ever was under the influence at his employment with the District in the past (25) twenty-five years.  We may here also distinguish the circumstances of the petitioner’s case from Arrocha where the agency relied heavily on the argument that one of the duties of a teacher is to be a role model to impressionable young minds and that a felony conviction for the criminal sale of cocaine had a direct negative bearing on that petitioner’s fitness to fulfill that role.  The respondent in the present case might argue that Appellant’s offenses raise questions of his morality and character that has a negative bearing on the applicant’s fitness, which is indirectly a facet of all his responsibilities.  However, were this analysis accepted, the exception would devour the rule that an employer or agency may not deny an applicant solely because of convictions, unless the employment poses a “direct relationship” or “unreasonable risk”.  Furthermore, as the Monroe County Supreme Court held in the Matter of Black v. OMRDD, any reliance on a catchall statement that Appellant’s employment would entail direct contact with a vulnerable population, i.e. children, cannot substitute for the lack of analysis that his conviction for DWI would have any bearing on his ability to carry out the duties and responsibilities as maintenance and grounds keeper.  See, Black v. OMRDD, 858 N.Y.S.2d 859.
  The seventh factor enumerated in § 753 is whether there is any evidence of rehabilitation and/or good conduct.  This factor favors Appellant’s in that there is ample evidence he is successfully recovery from his disability of alcoholism is substantial and persuasive evidence of his rehabilitation. Additionally, Appellant is supervised under New York State Parole and he has been successfully complying with all the terms of his supervision, including random drug screens and unannounced home visits.  Appellant’s rehabilitation information demonstrates that he has successfully addressed his alcohol issues and he has been successfully employed at the School District for a year since his release.  
The eighth factor considered is the agency’s legitimate interest in protecting the property, safety and welfare of specific individuals or general public.  Appellant acknowledges New York State’s legitimate interest in protecting school children; however, as established by the previous seven factors, Appellant poses no threat to any of District property, staff, or students.  The District has already weighed its legitimate interest in protecting the property, safety and welfare of specific individuals or general public against any risks Appellant’s employment might present and determined he poses no risk.  Thus, the District continues to support Appellant, despite OSPRA’s efforts to disqualify him.

C.  AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT

Under both the United States’ Americans’ with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C.A. §12132, and the New York State Human Rights Law, recovered drug and alcohol addicts are considered disabled and therefore are a protected class.  As 9 New York Code of Rules and Regulations (NYCRR) §466.11(h)(1) states;

Alcoholism and drug addiction are diseases. However, an individual who is currently using drugs illegally (see paragraph (4) of this subdivision), is not protected in this regard by the Human Rights Law. The Law does protect an individual who is a recovered/recovering alcoholic or drug addict.    
Appellant is a recovered/recovering alcohol addict and therefore he is protected under both the ADA and the NYS Human Rights Law.  In accordance with both the ADA and NYS Human Rights Law, protected classes of individuals are entitled “reasonable accommodations” regarding their disabilities.  Thus, Appellant’s criminal record, which is a product of his disability, should be waived as a “reasonable accommodation” in accordance with the ADA and NYS Human Rights Law.  Pursuant to the relevant portion of the ADA, 42 U.S.C.A. §12132, “No qualified individual with a disability shall, by reason of such disability, be excluded from participation in or be denied the benefits of the services, programs, or activities of a public entity, or be subjected to discrimination by any such entity”.   It is Appellant is a “qualified individual” under the ADA and that if the NYS OSPRA were to deny his employment solely on the basis of his convictions it would “by reason of” his “disability”.  Therefore, Appellant proposes that he is entitled under the ADA to a “reasonable accommodation” in reference to being approved for employment as maintenance and grounds keeper in a facility regulated by NYS OSPRA, despite the existence of his convictions which were directly the result of his disability.  
Conclusion:

The record demonstrates that neither exception to Article 23-A’s broad general rule in Section 752 (1) or (2); “direction relationship” or “unreasonable risk” applies to the facts of Appellant’s case.  Furthermore, the record clearly establishes Appellant’s convictions were the product of his disability and should not bar his employment.  Furthermore, a decision to deny Appellant application cannot be made consistent with Article 23-A or the Americans with Disabilities Act and there is no rational basis to deny Appellant’s employment solely because of his convictions because Appellant’s evidence of rehabilitation and irrelevance of his crimes to the duties and responsibilities of a maintenance and grounds keeper.

___________________________________________

Jason Douglas Hoge, Esq.

Attorney for Appellant
Legal Assistance of Western New York, Inc.
Monroe County Legal Assistance 

Center (MCLAC)

1 West Main Street, 4FL

Rochester, NY 14614

(585) 325-2520
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